
BOA 150407min   Page 1 of 8 
 

Minutes of Board of Adjustment Meeting  
held Tuesday, April 7, 2015, at 7:00 P.M., 
in the Council Chambers, 11 North 3rd Street, 
Jacksonville Beach, Florida 
 
Call to Order 
 
The meeting was called to order by Chairman Osewalt. 
 
Roll Call 
Sylvia Osewalt, Chairman  
Scott Cummings, Vice-Chairman  
Tom Buck  
Joseph Loretta  
John Moreland  
 
Alternates: 
Jeff Truhlar  
Francis Reddington  
 
Ex parte Communications 
 
Mr. Moreland reported communications with an applicant.  
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
It was moved by Mr. Loretta, seconded by Mr. Moreland, and passed unanimously, to approve 
the minutes as submitted for the following meetings: 
 

February 17, 2015 
March 3, 2015 
March 17, 2015  

 
Correspondence 
 
There was correspondence that would be reviewed during the case in which it pertained. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
There was no old business. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
(A) Case Number: BOA 15-100026  

Name of Applicant:  Christian Allen 
Property Address: 1805 South 1st Street 

 
Motion to Approve: It was moved by Mr. Cummings, seconded by Mr. Moreland, to 
approve a request for total side yards of 11 feet in lieu of 15 feet required; for a rear yard 
of 10 feet in lieu of 20 feet required; for open space separation of 10.8 feet and 11.1 feet 
in lieu of 15 feet between structures to the north and south respectively; for 46% lot 
coverage in lieu of 35% maximum to allow for a new zero lot line single family dwelling. 



Minutes Board of Adjustment Meeting 
Held April 7, 2015 

BOA 150407min   Page 2 of 8 
 

(B) Case Number: BOA#15-100060 
Name of Applicant:  Christian Allen 
Property Address: 1805 South 1st Street 

Motion to Approve: It was moved by Mr. Cummings, seconded by Mr. Moreland, to 
approve a request for total side yards of 11.1 feet in lieu of 15 feet required; for a rear  
yard of 10 feet in lieu of 20 feet required; for open space separation of 11.1 feet in lieu of  
15 feet and 8.6 feet between structures to the south and north respectively; and for 46%  
lot coverage in lieu of 35% maximum to allow for a new zero lot line single family 
dwelling.  

 

Applicant:  The applicant, Christian Allen with Corner Lot Properties, stated that there 
wasn’t sufficient lot size for a single family dwelling. 
 
Mr. Loretta asked if they had to get conditional zoning.  Mr. Allen responded that they 
did not. 
 
Mr. Moreland asked if the structure would be the same as others in this area.  Mr. Allen 
stated yes.  Mr. Moreland responded that he hoped they could vary somewhat. 
 
Public Hearing: 
Chairman Osewalt opened the Public Hearing; there was no one present to speak in favor 
or in opposition to the proposal. 
 
Discussion: 
Mr. Buck stated that other than varying the structures, there were no issues. 

 
Mr. Loretta stated that he was pleased they weren’t doing any request for the front yard.  
He added that they were subdividing prior to construction. 
 
Ms. Osewalt stated that they were voting on BOA 15-100026. 
Roll Call Vote:  Ayes – Buck, Cummings, Osewalt, Moreland, and Loretta; motion 

    passed unanimously. 
 
Ms. Osewalt stated that they were voting on BOA 15-100060. 
Roll Call Vote:  Ayes – Cummings, Osewalt, Moreland, Loretta, Buck; motion 

    passed unanimously. 
 
(C) Case Number: BOA 15-100033 

Name of Applicant: Christian Allen 
Property Address: 432 14th Avenue North  

 
Motion to Approve: It was moved by Mr. Cummings, seconded by Mr. Moreland, to 
approve a request for a rear yard of 10 feet in lieu of 30 feet required to allow for a new 
six unit town house structure. 
 
Applicant:  The applicant, Christian Allen with Corner Lot Properties, stated that they 
wanted the setback so they wouldn’t have to build three story units. 
Mr. Reddington asked about the lot coverage.  Mr. Allen responded that for the exterior 



Minutes Board of Adjustment Meeting 
Held April 7, 2015 

BOA 150407min   Page 3 of 8 
 

lots were 34 & 42% and on the interior 64.8%. 
 
Mr. Moreland asked if this was the least they could do.  Mr. Allen stated it was the best 
use and the same as the ones to the east. 
 
Mr. Buck stated these 6 units would stick out like a sore thumb and expressed his 
opposition. Mr. Allen stated they will build them to fit in with the area. 
 
Mr. Loretta state that he thought no PUD was necessary. 
 
Mr. Buck stated his problem was that this is not a good use of that piece of property. 
 
Mr. Moreland added that the situation is impacted by the closeness of the school. 
 
Ms. Osewalt stated that she had a petition signed by 27 neighbors expressing concern 
with the new traffic and the school. 
 
Public Hearing: 
Chairman Osewalt opened the Public Hearing; the following spoke in opposition: 
 
Joe Maccondo, 619 4th Avenue, expressed his concern with traffic and the type of 
development this would be. 
 
Nan Jester, 429 14th Ave. North, stated that it was not a good idea to put 6 units on this 
lot.   
 
Tony Davenport, 336 14th Ave. North, stated he was concerned with parking. The project 
will bring more cars to an area where there is already parking issues.  
 
Bee Tejatanalert, 424 14th Ave. North, voiced her opposition.  She stated there was no 
hardship, and had concerns with parking and noise. 
 
Kenneth Tejatanalert, 424 14th Ave. North, supported his wife, stating the property values 
would decrease. 
 
Frank Wright, 525 13th Ave. North, stated this was going backwards and expressed 
concerns about drainage and parking. 
  
Clark Stuck, 410 14th Ave. North, expressed his opposition to the noise and the lot 
coverage. 

 
Leslie McKiernan, 501 14th Ave. North, expressed concern about parking, noise, safety, 
and property values. 
 
Charlotte Wilson, 431 14th Ave. North, lives across the street and voiced her opposition. 
 
Rebuttal:   
Mr. Allen stated he was not changing the zoning.  He could build 3 stories which would 
be more of an eyesore. 
 
Discussion:    
Mr. Moreland stated this is too much and traffic and safety concerns are maximized. 



Minutes Board of Adjustment Meeting 
Held April 7, 2015 

BOA 150407min   Page 4 of 8 
 

Ms. Osewalt added there are 37 neighbors expressing concern.  There is no hardship.  
 
Mr. Loretta stated this area was poorly zoned. 
Roll Call Vote:  Nays – Buck, Cummings, Osewalt, Moreland, and Loretta; motion  
     denied unanimously. 
 

(D) Case Number: BOA 15-100034 
Name of Applicant:  William Dopf 
Property Address: 92 29th Ave. South 

  
Motion to Approve: It was moved by Mr. Cummings, seconded by Mr. Moreland, to 
approve a request for a front yard of 7 feet in lieu of 15 feet required; for a rear yard of 9 
feet in lieu of 10 feet required; and for a corner side yard of 7.6 feet in lieu of 10 feet 
required to allow for improvements for a single family dwelling. 

 
Applicant:  The applicant, William Dopf, 92 29th Ave. South, stated that he has lived 
there for 15 years and it will now be occupied by 3 additional residents.  They want to 
push living area onto the front porch and expand the corner to recreate a porch. 
 
Mr. Moreland stated that the house currently has 7.6 sideyard.   
 
Mr. Loretta clarified the plans for the new porch.   
 
Mr. Buck stated that he was taking away non-permeable driveway and putting permable- 
type material.     

 
Public Hearing: 
Chairman Osewalt opened the Public Hearing. 
 
Dan O’Malley, 2999 South 3rd Street, lives directly behind the property and stated he was 
in favor of the proposal.   
 
Ms. Osewalt read a letter from an anonymous neighbor opposing the proposal because of 
an obstruction. 
 
Discussion: 
Mr. Buck questioned where the obstruction would be.   
 
Mr. Buck added that this was an odd-shaped lot.  
 
Mr. Loretta thought this would be an improvement to the property. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  Ayes – Buck, Cummings, Osewalt, Moreland, and Loretta; motion  
      passed unanimously. 
 

(E) Case Number: BOA 15-100035 
Name of Applicant:  Ronald Carnes 
Property Address: 153 34th Avenue South 

  
Motion to Approve: It was moved by Mr. Cummings, seconded by Mr. Moreland, to 
approve a request for a corner side yard of 8 feet in lieu of 13 feet required; for a rear 



Minutes Board of Adjustment Meeting 
Held April 7, 2015 

BOA 150407min   Page 5 of 8 
 

yard of 13 feet in lieu of 30 feet required; and for 49% lot coverage in lieu of 48% lot 
coverage existing to allow for improvements to a single family dwelling. 

 
Applicant:  The applicant, Ronald Carnes, 153 34th Ave. South, stated that he was 
recently married and they have a single car driveway.  It makes it difficult with 4 
vehicles.  They are requesting to build a 3-car garage and would face neighbors that also 
have a 3-car garage.   
 
Mr. Moreland asked if they would be removing all concrete.  Mr. Carnes responded not 
all of it.   
 
Ms. Osewalt asked where he got the 48% lot coverage.  The Board has approved 46% for 
the lot, not 48%.  Mr. Carnes explained the plans for the new driveway to the garage. 
 
Mr. Loretta stated that they will have pavement to the eastern property line.  Anyone who 
parks in front of the garage will be half way in the right of way. He stated that it was a 
safety issue and City code doesn’t allow parking in the right-of-way.  Mr. Loretta asked if 
they could move the garage back at all.  Discussion followed on ways to change the plans 
to address these issues. 

 
Public Hearing: 
Chairman Osewalt opened the Public Hearing.  There was no one present to speak in 
favor or in opposition to the proposal. 
 
Discussion: 
Mr. Cummings stated that he agreed with Mr. Loretta.  
 
Mr. Loretta stated that the house to the west did not have the 20 feet, and this garage 
would be similar. 
 
Mr. Moreland asked how wide was the easement. 
 
Mr. Loretta responded that it was 25 feet from mid street. 
 
Mr. Moreland said that he appreciated the green space and they could move the garage 
back to be in line with the house. 
 
Amended Motion: An amended motion was made by Mr. Loretta, seconded by Mr. 
Moreland, to approve a request for a rear yard of 13 feet in lieu of 30 feet required. 
Roll Call Vote:  Ayes – Buck, Cummings, Osewalt, Moreland, and Loretta; amended  
      motion passed unanimously. 
 

(F) Case Number: BOA 15-100036 
Name of Applicant:  SH Design, LLC 
Property Address: 2120 Beach Boulevard 

  
Motion to Approve: It was moved by Mr. Cummings, seconded by Mr. Moreland, to 
approve a request for 42% lot coverage in lieu of 35% maximum to allow for a pool deck 
and cabana addition to a single family dwelling. 

 



Minutes Board of Adjustment Meeting 
Held April 7, 2015 

BOA 150407min   Page 6 of 8 
 

Applicant:  The applicant, Jason Huntley, 1811 Kings Road, stated that the hardship is 
this lot is unique in that it is located at the foot of the Beach Blvd. bridge, and the lot is 
irregular.  The house fronts the FDOT right-of-way.  They can’t build with the 25 foot 
setback from the road. 
 
Mr. Huntley stated that this was subdivided to 10,000 square feet.  They have to come 
down the service road to get to Hopson Road.   
 
Mr. Loretta wondered how the road that was proposed could not be built without their 
approval. 
 
Mr. Huntley explained the house was custom made and how the proposed pool deck 
would be located. 

 
Public Hearing: 
Chairman Osewalt opened the Public Hearing.  There was no one present to speak in 
favor or in opposition to the proposal. 
 
Discussion: 
Mr. Loretta confirmed that this was the westernmost house before the townhomes start.  
He added that he can accept pushing the house back to allow for garage turnaround. 
 
Mr. Moreland stated that he thought the request was excessive and the hardship was self-
imposed. 
 
Amended Motion:  An amended motion was made by Mr. Loretta, seconded by Mr. 
Moreland, to approve a request for 39% lot coverage in lieu of 35% maximum to allow 
for a pool deck and cabana addition to a single family dwelling. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  Ayes – Cummings, Moreland, and Loretta 

   Nays – Buck, Osewalt 
   Amended motion passed with a vote of 3 to 2. 

 
(G) Case Number: BOA 15-100037 

Name of Applicant:  Mark “Casey” Conner 
Property Address: 56 Evans Drive 

  
Motion to Approve: It was moved by Mr. Cummings, seconded by Mr. Moreland, to 
approve a request for a front yard of 20 feet in lieu of 25 feet required to allow for a new 
single family dwelling. 

 
Applicant:  The applicant, Casey Conner, 1701 The Greens Way, provided exhibits and 
stated that there was a bulkhead to the right of the property.  There is a 2x6 laying in the 
mud as they get to their property.  They flagged 5 feet to the dry side of the bulkhead.  
 
Mr. Loretta stated that the house that sits way back borders this property.  Mr. Conner 



Minutes Board of Adjustment Meeting 
Held April 7, 2015 

BOA 150407min   Page 7 of 8 
 

stated that everyone along the street was given the 20 feet from the road.   
 
Mr. Buck stated that he would be considerably up from the house next door. Mr. Buck 
asked if they would build a new bulkhead.   
 
Mr. Reddington asked who maintained the bulkhead.  Mr. Conner thought the City 
maintained it.     

 
Public Hearing: 
Chairman Osewalt opened the Public Hearing. 
 
Allen Jensen, 55 Fair Lane, provided clarification that the prior owner laid down a 2x6 at 
this property and this wasn’t a bulkhead.     
 
Discussion: 
Mr. Loretta commended the applicant for providing justification why he needed this 
request.   
 
Roll Call Vote:  Ayes – Buck, Cummings, Osewalt, Moreland, and Loretta; motion 
passed unanimously. 
 

(H) Case Number: BOA 15-100038 
Name of Applicant:  SH Design, LLC 
Property Address: 471 South 33rd Avenue 

  
Motion to Approve: It was moved by Mr. Cummings, seconded by Mr. Moreland, to 
approve a request for side yards of 6.5 feet in lieu of 10 feet required and for 40% lot 
coverage in lieu of 35% maximum to allow for a new single family dwelling. 

 
Applicant:  The applicant, Steve Williams, 3731 Duval Drive, stated that the current lot 
dimensions are 5,625 sq. ft. in a zoning classification that requires 10,000 square feet. 
 
Mr. Loretta stated that there have been many requests in this neighborhood.  Mr. 
Williams stated that to the east is the exact same request that was granted.   

 
Public Hearing: 
Chairman Osewalt opened the Public Hearing. The following individuals spoke in 
opposition to the proposal: 
 
Donna Shepler, 487 33rd Avenue South, stated her concern was the survey lines and 
granting the setback on those.  She thought the survey maps didn’t coincide.  She added 
that the distance between the new home and hers would be tight. 
 
John Lind, 3302 Isabella Blvd., stated that he lived just south and expressed his 
opposition. 
 



Minutes Board of Adjustment Meeting 
Held April 7, 2015 

BOA 150407min   Page 8 of 8 
 

Mallory Kotos, 455 33rd Ave. South, asked that the variance be 8 feet which was 
consistent with the other variances granted in this area. 
 
Ms. Osewalt noted that she had 2 cards from people opposed to the request, but did not 
wish to speak. 
 
Mr. Williams stated that he did not think anyone would be able to look down into a 
backyard.  He added that the neighbor to the east benefitted from the same variance. He 
said the hardship is the existing odd shape of the lot.      
 
Discussion: 
Mr. Moreland asked how wide was the house.  Mr. Williams responded it was 32 feet. 
 
Mr. Buck noted that they had 4 to5 of these types of requests come before them and they 
had changed some requests.    

 
Roll Call Vote:  Ayes – Buck, Moreland, and Loretta 

   Nays – Cummings and Osewalt 
   Motion passed with a 3 to 2 vote. 

 
Adjournment 
There being no further business coming before the Board, Ms. Osewalt adjourned the meeting at 
8:50 P.M. 
 
Submitted by:  Amber Maria Lehman 
   Staff Assistant  
 
       Approval: 
 
   
       /s/ Sylvia Osewalt 
 Chairman 
 Date:  July 7, 2015 
 


	Minutes of Board of Adjustment Meeting
	Call to Order
	Roll Call
	Mr. Moreland reported communications with an applicant.
	Approval of Minutes



